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UTILITY IDENTIFIER CHARACTERISTICS GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS VOLTAGES/KM TERRAIN NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS % INDUSTRIAL

1 Combined D&T MidWest US flat, some trees 1,499,826                             10,978                                  0.732%
2 Combined D&T MidAtlantic US flat, dense trees 1,225,305                             389                                       0.032%
3 Combined D&T Southeast US 69kV : 684km, 100kV class : 3398km, 300kV 

Class and above : 1956km, 
flat, dense trees 2,011,174                             6,951                                    0.346%

4 Combined D&T MidWest US flat, some trees 3,786,653                             2,074                                    0.055%
5 Combined D&T Southeast US 69kV : 4435km, 100kV class : 3242km, 300kV 

Class and above : 838km, 400kV Class and 
above : 92

flat, dense trees 934,215                                1,981                                    0.212%

6 Combined D&T Southeast US <69kV : 166km, 69kV : 2541km, 100kV class : 
15395km, 200kV Class : 3640km, 300kV Class 
and above : 156km, 400kV Class and above : 
3282

flat, dense trees 2,656,120                             44,373                                  1.671%

7 Trans Only MidWest US flat, some trees 2,200,000                             
8 Trans Only MidWest US flat, some trees 1,800,000                             
9 Combined D&T MidWest US <69kV : 138km, 69kV : 3102km, 100kV class : 

2278km, 300kV Class and above : 1611km, 
flat, some trees 716,359                                1,448                                    0.202%

10 Combined D&T Northeast US flat, dense trees 1,614,884                             1,695                                    0.105%
11 Combined D&T MidWest US <69kV : 2257km, 69kV : 2656km, 100kV class : 

5701km, 200kV Class : 1562km, 300kV Class 
and above : 79km, 400kV Class and above : 
796

flat, few trees 385,467                                71                                         0.018%

12 Combined D&T Southwest US 69kV : 4740km, 100kV class : 11128km, 300kV 
Class and above : 8116km, 

flat, few trees 3,077,913                             182,018                                5.914%

13 Combined D&T MidAtlantic US 69kV : 177km, 100kV class : 211km, 200kV 
Class : 853km, 400kV Class and above : 302

flat, dense trees 1,555,343                             3,081                                    0.198%

14 Combined D&T MidAtlantic US flat, dense trees 3,800,000                             
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March 3, 2009 
 
Great Lakes Power 
2 Sackville 
Sault Ste. Marie, ON 

ATTN: Mr. Duane Fecteau 

RE:  Consulting Report for 2 Sackville Road, Sault Ste. Marie, ON 
 Commercial, Industrial & Vacant Industrial Land Lease Rate Analysis 
   

In fulfillment of our engagement, we are pleased to transmit an analysis, 
presented in a Narrative Format, developing the Market Lease Rates of the 
commercial/industrial properties and a portion of the vacant industrial land 
located at the above referenced property. The scope of the analysis was to 
prepare a report based on the information provided by the client. The reports 
reliability is limited by the scope of the analysis and the depth of the discussion 
warranted under the terms of reference discussed. 
 
The report will be used to assist Great Lakes Power in determining the Market 
Lease Rates of the subject property for internal purposes.  It may not be 
distributed to or relied upon by other persons or entities without permission of 
Great Lakes Power.  However, Great Lakes Power may provide only complete, 
final copies of the letter in its entirety (but not component parts) to third 
parties.   
 
The following analysis sets forth the most pertinent data gathered, the 
techniques employed and the reasoning leading to the opinion of value.  The 
analysis, opinions and conclusions were developed based on, and this report 
has been prepared in conformance with, our interpretation of the guidelines 
and recommendations set forth in the Canadian Uniform Standards of 
Professional Appraisal Practice (CUSPAP), the requirements of the Code of 
Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the 
Appraisal Institute of Canada. 
 
Based on the analysis contained in the following report, the Market Lease Rates 
for the properties and land occupied by Great Lakes Power as at February 27, 
2009 is as follows: 
 
Property Type Lease Rate 

Type 1: Commercial/Office   1st & 2nd Floor  $5.50 PSF to $7.50 PSF 
NET 

 Lower Level $1.50 PSF to $3.50 PSF 
NET 

Type 2: Industrial Building 1 $7.00 PSF NET 

 Building 2 $5.00 PSF NET 

Type 3: Vacant Land $2,516.67 /month $30,200 / YEAR NET 
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The information included is based on data obtained interviews with third parties. As such, the 
data could not always be verified.  In addition, we make assumptions as to future behavior of 
consumers, and the general economy, that are dynamic and subject to change. We take no 
responsibility for any events, conditions, or circumstances affecting the market that exists 
subsequent to the effective date of this appraisal.  This letter is invalid as an opinion of value 
if detached from the report, which contains the text, exhibits, and addenda. 
 
In view of the fact that the analysis discusses both gross and triple net leases; the following 
definitions are included; 
 
Gross Lease: A property lease in which the landlord agrees to pay all expenses which are 
normally associated with ownership, such as utilities, repairs, insurance, and (sometimes) 
taxes. 
 
Triple Net Lease: A lease in which the lessee pays rent to the lessor, as well as all taxes, 
insurance, and maintenance expenses that arise from the use of the property.  

 
It has been a pleasure to assist you in this assignment.  If you have any questions concerning 
the analysis or if Area Real Estate Appraisals Inc. can be of further service, please contact us. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

 
_________________________ 
Samuel G. Butkovich AACI 
President 
AREA Real Estate Appraisals Inc. 
sam@evaluationet.com 
Certificate #2805 
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Scope of Work  
 
According to the Canadian Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, it is the 

appraiser’s responsibility to determine the appropriate scope of work. CUSPAP defines the 
scope of work as: 

The amount and type of information researched and the analysis applied in an assignment. 

Scope of work includes, but is not limited to, the following: 
 

1 the degree to which the property is inspected or identified; 

2 the extent of research into physical or economic factors that could affect the 
property; 

3 the extent of data research; and 

4 the type and extent of analysis applied to arrive at opinions or conclusions. 
 
The following information defines the Scope of Work taken by the appraiser(s): 
 
Report Type Consulting Report in Narrative Format 

CUSPAP Reporting Type 
Description 

This analysis will constitute the basic outline and 
content of a Narrative Report. This format provides the 
client with the best method for understanding the 

appraiser's reasoning and conclusions, and assists the 
appraiser in analyzing the problem logically. 

Purpose of the Report To assist GLP in determining the market lease rates of 
the commercial and industrial buildings located on the 
subject property.  

To assist GLP in determining the market lease rate of a 
portion of the subject industrial lands.  

Property Types Type 1: Commercial/Office Space 

Type 2: Industrial Space 

Type 3: Vacant Industrial Land 

Scope of Work Interviews were conducted with; 

1) Building Owners 
2) Commercial Developers 
3) Property Managers 

4) Rental Agents 
5) Commercial Brokers 
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Market Conditions 
 
Macro Economic Data (TD Economics) 
 
Near-Term Trackings on Data  
 
For Canada, the near-term data are tracking a worse than- expected outcome. The job market 
is deteriorating more broadly and rapidly, and the same can be said for the housing market. By 

extension, this has bled into consumer spending. Accounting for these developments resulted in 
a 0.5 percentage point downward revision to our 2009 real GDP growth estimate and a smaller 
0.2 percentage point drag in 2010. 

 
For the U.S., the near-terms trackings on GDP have gone in the opposite direction. Real GDP 
growth in the fourth quarter came in at -3.8%, a full two percentage points better than we had 

expected. Most of the miss between our estimate and theirs was centered in an inventory 
swing, which has not caused us to materially change our outlook for 2009 and 2010; however 
the net result is that the fourth quarter produced a stronger hand-off into 2009 than we had 

originally estimated. 
 

Fiscal Stimulus Impact 
 

We then took the baseline projections from these data revisions and adjusted the forecasts on 
both sides of the border to incorporate the impact of fiscal stimulus. In Canada, the fiscal 

stimulus package put forth in the 2009 Budget adds back 0.5 percentage points to real GDP 
growth in that year, completely offsetting the weakening to our base line projection. In 2010, 
the stimulus adds 0.6 percentage points to real GDP growth. All told, real GDP growth was 

bumped back up to -1.4% for 2009 and +2.8% for 2010. Notable features of this updated 
forecast are a pronounced further weakening of housing starts to a trough of 140,000 
(compared to 160,000 in the December forecast) and an overall employment loss of 324,000 

(compared to the shallower decline of 250,000). 
 
For the U.S., the government is proposing bigger fiscal stimulus figures than we had originally 

assumed, and this leads to a marginal increase in our base line GDP forecast for 2009, with a 
bigger lagged impact on 2010. The House is proposing about $820 billion in tax and spending 
initiatives, while the Senate appears to be closer to $890 billion. We split the difference and 

incorporated $850 billion in our model, a net $250 billion addition to our December view. 
 
However, the addition in spending doesn’t mean it will be more effective, especially in the 

near term. The stimulus package has turned into a fiscal party, with all interest groups making 
a mad scramble for the punch bowl. Plus, with an estimated 70% of the stimulus directed to 

spending measures (rather than tax cuts), there could be significant lags in circulating the 
funds into the economy. We think 2010, and even 2011, will be the years when the impact of 
most of the infrastructure funds will be felt. 
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In total, the fiscal stimulus package will add 0.7 percentage points to U.S. GDP growth in 2009 
and 1.9 percentage points in 2010. That places the projections for real GDP growth in those 

years at -1.6% and +3.2%, respectively. 

 
City Data 
 
Table 1 

NAME PRODUCT OR SERVICE Employees
Algoma Steel Inc. Steel Manufacturing 3,000
NuComm International Call Center 800
Ontario Lottery & Gaming Corporation Lottery & Gaming Products 525
NCO Teleservices Inc. Call Center 800

Sutherland Group Canada Ltd Call Center 1,100
St. Mary's Paper Ltd. Pulp Mill Producing Paper 375
A & P Food (Groceries) 375
EDS / GM Roadside Call Center 270
Sears Canada Department Store 250
Rome's Independant Grocers Food (Groceries) 200

NAME PRODUCT OR SERVICE Employees
Sault Area Hospitals General Hospitals 1,600
Algoma District School Board Elementary and Secondary Education 1,600
City of Sault Ste. Marie Local Government Services 727
Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board Elementary and Secondary Education 900
Sault College of Applied Arts & Technology Alcohol & Community Colleges and C.E.G.E.P.'s 320
Community Living Algoma Social Service Planning 378
Casino Sault Ste. Marie Alcohol & Gaming Commission of Ontario 410
Group Health Centre Public Health Clinics/Community 290
Algoma Health Unit Public Health 170
Children's Aid Society of Algoma Child and Youth Services 150

Table of Sault Ste. Marie's Major Employers 2007
Source: Ontario Community Profiles

PRIVATE SECTOR

PUBLIC SECTOR

 
 
City employment is almost equally distributed between the private and public sector. The 
economy is somewhat diversified from an industrial base to a technology base. Most technology 

jobs however are in call centers and not high technology, white collar jobs.  
 
There will be an influx of specialized trades people migrating to Sault Ste. Marie over the next 

36 months while the new hospital is being built. This segment of the workforce is expected to 
cause a shortage of housing over the short term as the vacancy rate in Sault Ste. Marie is about 
1%. Some of the workers may be forced to buy homes as the only viable alternative to renting. 
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Residential Sales 
 
Table 2 

 
 
Sales of all units are down less than 1% over 2007.  

 
The local market is best classified as a neutral sellers market.  
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Building Permits 

Table 3 

 
 
Commercial Building activity is the highest it’s been in the past 20 years. This is attributable to 
a strong local economy and the insurgence of several new retail developments in the northerly 

part of the city. This includes Home Depot, Wal-Mart, and Future Shop to name a few. 
Institutional activity is also fairly active and will increase next year when the new hospital is 

built. The city built a new, 4,500 seat arena (the Essar Centre) that opened in 2006.  
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Subject Property Identification 
 

 
 
2 Sackville Road 
Sault Ste. Marie, ON  
 
 
¤ Market Type Urban Population >100,000 

 
¤ Property Type Industrial/Commercial 

 
Location Information 
 
¡ Legal Description PLAN 763 LOT 1 TO 32 LANE CLOSED DELEWARE BALTIMORE 

BALMORAL AVE. CLOSED PLAN H732 LOT 14 PT PCL 12220 AWS 
RP 1R9112 PT 1 

¡ Roll Number 57-61-030-056-149-00-0000 

 
Zoning, Assessment & Taxes 
 
¡ Zoning M-2 Medium Industrial Zone  

¡ Uses See Addendum 

¡ Assessment  $3,046,000 / 2008 

¡ Taxes $128,199 / 2008 

Map 1 
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Site Information (Entire Site) 

¡ Gross Land Area (SF) 586,491.84 SF  

¡ Gross Land Area (AC) 13.46 

¡ Est. Usable Land Area (%) 100% 

¡ Shape Irregular Rectangle 

¡ Topography Level 

¡ Frontage (Ft.) 438.62’ 

¡ Depth (Ft.) Irregular 

¡ Environmental Issue Unknown 

At Site Utilities 

¡ Water Description Municipal 

¡ Sewer Description Municipal 

¡ Electricity Description Municipal electricity.  

¡ Gas  Yes installed 

¡ Telephone Yes 

¡ Cable Yes 

 
Parking 
¡ Parking Type 100% paved 

¡ Number of Parking Spaces Adequate 
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Property Type 1: Office Building 
 
GENERAL  

¡ Type of Building Commercial Office  

¡ Age 1968 & 1995 

¡ Number of Stories 1 storey (part) plus basement / 2 storey (part) plus 
basement 

¡ Building Size 24,572 SF (Basement = 18,216 SF) 

¡ Wall Support Concrete Block 

¡ Condition Average 

EXTERIOR  

¡ Roof Support Structural Steel Beams  

¡ Roof Cover Metal Deck, Ploy Membrane, T & G 

¡ Exterior Walls Metal Aluminum Panels  

¡ Foundation Poured Concrete 

¡ Other Parking Lot & Building Lighting 

¡ Condition Good 

INTERIOR  

¡ Floors Ceramic Tile, Broadloom 

¡ Walls Drywall, Concrete Block 

¡ Ceilings Suspended Tile 

¡ Lighting Fluorescent 

¡ Electrical Main 60,000 Volts – 3 Phase 600 amps 

¡ Heating Electric HVAC – Electric Hot Water 

¡ Plumbing Standard Copper 

¡ Other Locker & shower rooms, male & female washrooms on both 
levels , boardroom, lunch room, elevator, partitioned 
offices two stairwells. 

Building link – 36 feet – 2 levels. 
Loading dock and overhead doors. 
Basement height is 11 feet. 
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Photographs of Property Type 1: Office Building 
 
Front View – 2 Storey Portion 
 

 
 

Rear View – One Storey Portion 
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Property Type 2: Industrial Building “1” 
 
GENERAL  

¡ Type of Building Metering Shop 

¡ Age 1995 

¡ Number of Stories 1 + mezzanine 

¡ Building Size 8,020 SF (Mezzanine = 720 SF) 

¡ Wall Support Concrete Block 

¡ Condition Average 

EXTERIOR  

¡ Roof Support Structural Steel Beams  

¡ Roof Cover Metal Deck, Ploy Membrane, T & G 

¡ Exterior Walls Vertical Metal Siding 

¡ Foundation Poured Concrete 

¡ Other 4 Overhead Doors 

¡ Condition Good 

INTERIOR  

¡ Floors Concrete 

¡ Walls Exterior Metal Siding 

¡ Ceilings Exposed – Partially insulated 

¡ Lighting Fluorescent, mercury vapour lights 

¡ Electrical 3 Phase 600 amps 

¡ Heating Electric Radiant, Shop overhead blowers 

¡ Plumbing Standard Copper 

¡ Other Work shop area for trades.  
Building consists of garage, electrical shop and repair shop. 
Mezzanine is used as storage. 

Building height is 25 feet. 
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Photographs of Property Type 2: Industrial Building “1” 
 
View from Northern Avenue 

 

 

Rear View 
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Property Type 2: Industrial Building “2” 
 
GENERAL  

¡ Type of Building Storage / Repair Shop 

¡ Age 1969 

¡ Number of Stories 1 

¡ Building Size 3,200 SF (approx) 

¡ Wall Support Structural Steel Columns & Beams 

¡ Condition Average 

EXTERIOR  

¡ Roof Support Structural Steel beams 

¡ Roof Cover Metal Deck 

¡ Exterior Walls Vertical Metal Siding 

¡ Foundation Poured Concrete 

¡ Other 2 Overhead Doors 

¡ Condition Good 

INTERIOR  

¡ Floors Concrete 

¡ Walls Exterior Metal Siding 

¡ Ceilings Exposed / Partially Insulated 

¡ Lighting Fluorescent, Mercury Vapour Pots 

¡ Electrical 3 Phase 600 Amps 

¡ Heating Electric Radiant, Shop Overhead Doors 

¡ Plumbing Standard Copper 

¡ Other Work shop area for trades people. 
Building consists of garage & repair shop. 
Building Height is 25 feet. 

¡ Condition Good 
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Photographs of Property Type 2: Industrial Building “2” 
 
Side View of Storage Building 
 

 
 

Rear View of Storage Building 
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Property Type 3: Vacant Land 
 
¡ Gross Land Area (SF) 263,102  

¡ Gross Land Area (AC) 6.04 

¡ Est. Usable Land Area (%) 100% 

¡ Shape Irregular 

¡ Topography Level  

¡ Frontage (Ft.) Frontage on Second Line and Sackville Road. 

¡ Depth (Ft.) Irregular 

¡ Environmental Issue Assumed to be free of all contaminants (see limiting 
conditions). 

¡ Zoning Industrial 

¡ Comments The Great Lakes property is actually 13.46 acres. This 

report is based on the assumption that the vacant land is a 
separate parcel of property. The size was calculated using
maps made available from the city of Sault Ste. Marie 

Planning division.  

 
Photograph of Property Type 3: Vacant Land 
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Aerial View of the Subject Property 
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Market Lease Analysis: Property Type 1 – Office Buildings 
 
Commercial Leased Space 
 
With a population of fewer than 80,000, there is a limited supply of office space in Sault Ste. 

Marie. These buildings are typically located in the downtown area, in the Central Business 
District (CBD). In Sault Ste. Marie, a Class A property would be a multi-storey building with an 
attractive entrance lobby, elevators and barrier free access. There are no buildings in this 

market area over nine (9) stories and most private sector properties are five stories or less.   
 
Map 2 
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Along with Class A space, there is a proliferation of office space on the second and third floor 
of the older commercial buildings on Queen Street and some if the arterial roads in the 

downtown area. This type of office space is typified with poor parking, inadequate lighting and 
ventilation and usually lacks handicap accessibility. The highest vacancy rates are noted in this 
classification. Although no actual statistics are kept locally, vacancy rates would be 

conservatively estimated at 25% to 35%. This type of office space would appeal to small, 
service oriented businesses not requiring an elaborate façade.  

 
A survey of the various office buildings in the private sector was undertaken. Each building 
surveyed was inspected by a member of the firm and the property managers or rental agent 

queried for information. Full information was not available on every building as some of the 
parties interviewed were reluctant to divulge information. 
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Office Comparable 1  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Location Information 

STATION TOWER 
421 Bay Street 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario 

Market Type:    Commercial  
Roll Number: 5761020044019000000   
Property Type: 402 - Large Office Building  

Lease Information 
Effective Rental Rate: $18.25 - $19.25 Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 

Lease Type: Gross with escalation Term of Lease: 5 Years 
Lease Renewal Options?: N/A Operating Costs: $10.06 

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 64,903 Gross Leasable Area (SF): 61,811 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 2.2 Efficiency Ratio: 95% 

Building Class: A Number of Stories 6 
Property Condition: Good Year Built: 1974 

Comments 

Lease Remarks: 

The highest rate was in the Station Tower building. When the 
base rate is adjusted for maintenance and electrical, the current 
asking rate is $19.25 per square foot gross on the 6th floor and 
$18.25 per square foot on the 5th floor. The building is 95% 
occupied with only three units available ranging in size from 420 
square feet to 1,360 square feet. 

Property Remarks: 
View of water front from three sides of the building. TD Bank on 
the main floor and Subway. Core tenants include law firms, 
accounting firms and several other professionals.  
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Office Comparable 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Location Information 

ELGIN STREET TOWERS 
390 Bay Street 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario, P6A 1X2 

Market Type: Commercial   
Roll Number: 5761020042239000000   
Property Type: 402 – Large Office Building   

Lease Information 
Effective Rental Rate: $17.70 Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 

Lease Type: Gross Term of Lease: Various 
Lease Renewal Options?: N/A Operating Costs: $10.71  

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 49,325 Gross Leasable Area (SF): 46,521 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 1.09 Efficiency Ratio: 94% 

Building Class: A Number of Stories 5 
Property Condition: Good Year Built: 1974 

Comments 

Lease Remarks: 
The property managers indicated that there is less than 2,000 SF 
available in this property.  Base rates are subject to annual 
escalation clauses for increases in operating costs. 

Property Remarks: 

This property in on the north side of Bay Street, across from 
Station Mall. Partial view of the river from the upper floors. 
Tenants include law firms, engineering firms and other 
professional offices. Parking deficiencies onsite. 
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Office Comparable 3 

 
Location Information 

SOO CENTRE 
123 March Street 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario 

Market Type: Commercial  
Roll Number: 5761020042091000000  
Property Type: 402 – Large Office Building 

Lease Information 
Effective Rental Rate: $18.00 to $20.00 Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 

Lease Type: Gross Term of Lease: 5 Years 
Lease Renewal Options?: N/A Operating Costs: $8.50 

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 33,941 Gross Leasable Area (SF): 31,847 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 0.24 acres Efficiency Ratio: 94% 

Building Class: A Number of Stories 5 
Property Condition: Good Year Built: 1965 

Comments 
Lease Remarks: Only 2,000 SF of space remains vacant at this time.  

Property Remarks: 

This building is one block north of Queen Street next to the 
District Court House and Land Registry Office. There would be 
limited view of the waterfront on the south side (upper floors). 
Tenants include opticians and other professionals. Parking is less 
than adequate. 
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Office Comparable 4 

 
Location Information 

McCARDA BUILDING 
369 Queen Street East 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario, P6A 1Z4 

Market Type: Commercial   
Roll Number: 5771020042143000000   
Property Type: 402 – Large Office Building   

Lease Information 
Effective Rental Rate: $12.50 to $14.50 Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 

Lease Type: Gross Term of Lease: 5 Years 
Lease Renewal Options?: N/A Operating Costs: $7.00 

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 29,319 Gross Leasable Area (SF): 27,330 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 0.74 Efficiency Ratio: 93% 

Building Class: B Number of Stories 3 
Property Condition: Fair Year Built: 1950 

Comments 

Lease Remarks: 
The property agent advised that the asking rate is now increased 
from $16.00 to $16.50 PSF to mainly cover increases in taxes. 
There is about 2,800 SF of space available (3 units).  

Property Remarks: 

Converted building from Sault Star (Printing and Offices). Basic 
interior finishing and façade. Parking in rear is adequate but 
access is difficult from the parking area. Mixture of government 
agencies as tenants as well as constituency office for the NDP 
party. 
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Office Comparable 5 

 

Location Information 

THE QUEENSCENTRE 
477 Queen Street East 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario 

Market Type: Commercial 
Roll Number: 5761020042148000000 
Property Type: 402 – Large Office Building 

Lease Information 
Effective Rental Rate: $14.00 to $16.00 Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 

Lease Type: Gross Term of Lease: 5 Years  
Lease Renewal Options?: N/A Operating Costs: $8.00 

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 55,134  Gross Leasable Area (SF): 52,509 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 1.35 Efficiency Ratio: 95% 

Building Class: B Number of Stories 4 
Property Condition: Average Year Built: 1931 

Comments 

Lease Remarks: 
There is about 4,700 SF of space on the third floor available for 
$15.25 PSF. There is also 5,200 SF on the main floor that is on a 
month to month lease and can be leased for $16,00 PSF.  

Property Remarks: 

This building was converted to its present use from a department 
store. Consequently, it is slightly less than the standard expected 
in a Class A building. The south side of the building has an 
obstructed view of the St. Mary’s River. There is above average 
parking available. Tenants include dentists, government offices 
(across from courthouse) and various professionals. 
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Office Comparable 6  

 
Location Information 

BAILEY HOOSGOVENS 
405 Queen Street East 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario 

Market Type: Commercial   
Roll Number: 5761020042145000000  
Property Type: 402 – Large Office Building   

Lease Information 
Effective Rental Rate: $16.00 Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 

Lease Type: Gross Term of Lease: 5 Years 
Lease Renewal Options?: N/A Operating Costs: $6.66 

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 20,220 Gross Leasable Area (SF): 20,020 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 0.38 Efficiency Ratio: 99% 

Building Class: A Number of Stories 3 
Property Condition: Average Year Built: 1980 

Comments 

Lease Remarks: 

This building was recently sold to the Children’s Aid Society. The 
leases currently in effect will be terminated on expiry. The 
leases were negotiated a number of years ago and ranged from 
$14.00 to $16.00 PSF. 

Property Remarks: 

This building is on the south side of Queen Street at the corner 
of Elgin Street. There is an obstructed view of the waterfront 
from the upper floors on the south side of the building. Tenants 
include lawyers, engineering, real estate office and other 
professionals. 
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Office Comparable 7  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Location Information 

WALRUS BUILDINGS 
452 & 464 Albert Street E. 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario 

Market Type:    Commercial  
Roll Number: 5761020038105000000   
                        5761020038104000000   
Property Type: 402 - Large Office Building  

Lease Information 
Effective Rental Rate: $17.00 Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 

Lease Type: Gross Term of Lease: 5 Years 
Lease Renewal Options: N/A Operating Costs: $9.75 

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 24,050 Gross Leasable Area (SF): 21,704 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 2.2 Efficiency Ratio: 90% 

Building Class: B+ Number of Stories 3 & 2 
Property Condition: Average Year Built: 1970 & 1999 

Comments 

Lease Remarks: 
There are two vacancies in each building representing about 1/3 
of the total floor area. 

Property Remarks: 

These buildings are on the north side of Albert Street near the 
District Court House and Registry Office. The location is 
negatively affected by the properties on Grace Street which is 
primarily made up of rooming houses and run down  single family 
homes.  Tenants include real estate and government offices. 
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Office Comparable 8 

 
Location Information 

766 Bay Street 
(formerly 775 Queen Street E.) 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario,  

Market Type:    Commercial  
Roll Number: 5761020042154000000 
Property Type: 402 - Large Office Building  

Lease Information 
Effective Rental Rate: $12.50 Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 

Lease Type: Net Term of Lease: 5 Years 
Lease Renewal Options: N/A Operating Costs: N/A 

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 6400 (80’ x 80’) Gross Leasable Area (SF): 6,080 (est) 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 1.02 Efficiency Ratio: 95% 

Building Class: B Number of Stories 1 
Property Condition: Good Year Built: 2007 

Comments 

Lease Remarks: 
Approximately 3,200 SF of space was recently leased for $12.50 
PSF net. This included finished walls and T-bar ceiling but no 
interior build out. 

Property Remarks: 
This building contained 2 Units, both on one floor. The building is 
on the north side of Bay Street with a view of the river. This 
building was converted from an automobile dealership. 
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Office Comparable Lease Map 
 
Map 3 

 

 
 

Office Comparable Leased Listings 
 
Most property managers and leasing agents contacted confirmed that the market for most 

office space is currently tight, particularly for space over 3,000 SF in Class A buildings. We 
were also able to confirm through office files that recent leases were negotiated at: 

Table 4 

 
Address Lessee Size (SF) Price 

369 Queen Street Big Sisters 404 $12.63 (Net) 

369 Queen Street Laker Leasing 1,017 $11.04 (Net) 

369 Queen Street Tullock Engineering 1,432 $10.61 (Net) 

Great Northern Rd. Allstate 3,000 $20.00 (Gross) 

302 Queen Street E. Cescon (Dentist) 860 $12.00 (Gross) 

390 McNabb Street Northern Credit Union 4,615 $8.00 (net) CAM $6.61 

390 McNabb Street Cancer Society 2,000 $5.50 (net) CAM $6.61 

424 Pim Street N/A 1,050 $8.00 (net) 
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Several developers interviewed indicated that they would build to suit.  
 

a) A local developer indicated that they would build a 4,500 stand alone building on Queen 
Street; completely finished with drywall (interior of outside walls) and T-Bar ceiling. The 
price ranged from $13.00 to $15.00 (triple net). 

b) Commercial Realty (Gregory Whalen) has 29,000 SF of space on 43 Black Road that they will 
convert to modern office building (former Sutherland Call Center) for around $12.00 net for 
a base building.  

 

Office Gross Lease Rates 
 
As the information would suggest, negotiated gross lease rates for Class A buildings would be in 

the $15.00 to $18.00 PSF range. Because of the shortage of space and lack of projects 
scheduled, it is anticipated that the range for renewals or new leases will be in the $17.00 to 
$20.00 PSF range.  

 
This rate would likely decline to $12.00 to $15.00 PSF for buildings classified as Class B or 

lesser quality. Second and third floor space in the downtown  area continues to rent from $8.00 
to $10.00 but would only offer limited amenities and would likely be deficient of parking. 

 
Office Average Operating Costs 
 
The survey indicates that operating costs are now ranging from $7.00 to $10.71 PSF. The survey 
also indicates that most office building leases are on gross leases with escalation clauses built 

in for increases in operating costs. 
 
Office Net Lease Rates 
 
Based on the properties surveyed and the information provided, the net lease rate for good 
quality office buildings is in the range of $7.00 to $9.50 PSF. Class B and lesser properties are 
in the range of $5.00 to $7.00 depending on their location. As previously stated, most office 

buildings are on gross leases with escalation for increases in operating costs. New construction 
is possible at $13.00 to $15.00 PSF.   

Table 5 

Comparable # Operating Costs
1 10.06$                 
2 10.71$                 
3 8.50$                   
4 7.00$                   
5 8.00$                   
6 6.66$                   
7 9.75$                   

Average……………… 8.67$                   
Median…………………. 8.50$                    
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Office Vacancy Rates & Typical Tenant Inducements 
 
There have been two recent sales of office buildings from the private sector to the public 

sector which effectively moved about 65,000 SF of office space from the rental market. The 
property managers, developers and building owners interviewed indicated that there are very 
few vacancies, probably less than 5% of the total inventory of Class A buildings. As long as this 

condition exists, inducements would likely be limited to 30 days free rent during the build out 
period for existing buildings. 
 
Summary & Conclusions 
 
The subject building is a relatively modern 
office building with elevators, emergency 

power and is structurally sound with excellent 
parking facilities. In relation to the comparable 
buildings used in the analysis it would be rated 

average. The building is located outside of the 
business district and the areas normally 
associated with this type of use. In that 

respect, the location would be rated inferior to 
most of the properties analyzed. 

 
Given the age and location of the building and 
based on the information obtained through analysis of comparable transactions; the market 

rent for the subject building is estimated to be between $14.00 PSF and $16.00 PSF gross. 

Using average operating costs of $8.50 PSF, the net rental rate is $5.50 to $7.50 PSF. This 
value is well supported in the market as evidenced in the forgoing analysis. This rate would 

apply to all of the area “above grade”. Lower level, “below grade” finished office space would 
be rated inferior and would be more difficult to rent. The market rate for finished office space 

in the subject property below grade is $10.00 PSF to $12.00 PSF gross or $1.50 to $3.50 
net. 
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Market Lease Analysis: Property Type 2 – Industrial Buildings 
 
Industrial Leased Space 
 
There are several industrial zones in the city. The areas coloured in magenta on the map 

following represent industrial zones. The comparable lease information used in the analysis was 
obtained from properties in various locations around the city.   
 
Map 4 

 
 
 
A survey of the various industrial buildings in the private sector was undertaken. Each building 
surveyed was inspected by a member of the firm and the property managers or rental agent 

queried for information. Full information was not available on every building as some of the 
parties interviewed were reluctant to divulge information. 
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Industrial Comparable 1  

 

Location Information 

Bridgestone Tires 
783 Great Northern Rd. 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario 

Market Type:    Industrial  
Roll Number: 5761030062044000000   
Property Type: 540 – Industrial Building  

Lease Information 
Effective Rental Rate: $7.50 PSF Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 

Lease Type: Triple Net Term of Lease: 5 Years 
Lease Renewal Options?: N/A Operating Costs: N/A 

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 6,000 Gross Leasable Area (SF): 6,000 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 1.0 Efficiency Ratio: 100% 

Building Class: C Number of Stories 1 
Property Condition: Avg. Year Built: 1987 

Comments 

Lease Remarks: 
This building appears to have been built for its present use. It has 
2 bay doors and is primarily shop area except for a small 
reception area and office.  

Property Remarks: 

Situated on a busy corridor on the west side of Great Northern Rd, 
south of third Line. Across from the Site of the new hospital 
(currently under construction. This is a single tenant building 
leased to Bridgestone Tires.   
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Industrial Comparable 2 

 
 

Location Information 

N/A 
178 Drive In Road 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario, P6B 6A9 

Market Type: Industrial 
Roll Number: 5761030062041040000 
Property Type: 580 – Industrial Mall   

Lease Information 
Asking Rate: $7.00 Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 
Lease Type: Gross Term of Lease: To be neg. 

Lease Renewal Options?: N/A Operating Costs: N/A 

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 9,110 Gross Leasable Area (SF): 2,000 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 1.07 Efficiency Ratio: N/A 

Building Class: C Number of Stories 1 
Property Condition: Good Year Built: 1998 

Comments 

Lease Remarks: 
There are several tenants in this building. Each unit is separately 
metered for heat and utilities and the tenants are responsible for 
all of the operating costs.  

Property Remarks: 
This building is a small industrial mall situated on the north side 
of the city in an industrial park setting.   This property in on the 
south side of Drive In Rd. near Great Northern.  
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Industrial Comparable 3 

 
 

Location Information 

PUROLATOR 
40 Industrial Court “A” 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario 

Market Type: Industrial 
Roll Number: 5761030062042030000 
Property Type: 540 – Industrial Bldg. 

Lease Information 
Effective Rental Rate: $6.95 Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 

Lease Type: Gross Term of Lease: 10 Years 
Lease Renewal Options?: N/A Operating Costs: N/A 

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 5,940 Gross Leasable Area (SF): 5,940 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 2.0 acres Efficiency Ratio: 100% 

Building Class: C Number of Stories 1 
Property Condition: Fair Year Built: 1988 - 2008 

Comments 

Lease Remarks: 
The lease was recently renegotiated and an addition put on the 
building. Purolator has been the sole tenant in the building for 
over 10 years and the lease was extended for a further 10 years. 

Property Remarks: 

This building is a distribution warehouse for the Purolator 
Company. There are some finished offices and several loading 
docks along both sides of the building. The space is generally 
open with very little interior finish. 
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Industrial Comparable 4 

 
 

Location Information 

POWERHOUSE RACING SPORTS 
309-337 Fifth Line East 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario 

Market Type: Industrial 
Roll Number: 5761030088088000000 
Property Type: 540 - Other Industrial 

Lease Information 
Asking Rental Rate: $7.50 Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 

Lease Type: Net Term of Lease: TBA 
Lease Renewal Options?: N/A Operating Costs: N/A 

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 10,780 Gross Leasable Area (SF): 10,780 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 20 Efficiency Ratio: 100% 

Building Class: C Number of Stories 1 
Property Condition: Good Year Built: 1987 

Comments 

Lease Remarks: Currently available for rent. Originally, the asking rate was $10.00 
PSF but has since been reduced to $7.50 PSF.   

Property Remarks: 

Newer commercial buildings on 400 x 2600 lot, municipal services, 
ample storage and parking for transport trucks with plug-in. 1st 
class office space, 5500 sq ft of shop area, drive thru doors. Twin 
furnaces, radiant heat, twin air conditioners. 
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Industrial Comparable 5 

 

Location Information 

MID CANADA CONSTRUCTION 
815 Great Northern Rd. 
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario 

Market Type: Industrial 
Roll Number: 5761030062046000000 
Property Type: 540 - Other Industrial 

Lease Information 
Effective Rental Rate: $8.35 and $8.62 Rate Monthly or Annual? Annual 

Lease Type: Net Term of Lease: 5 Years  
Lease Renewal Options?: N/A Operating Costs: N/A 

Property Information 
Gross Building Area (SF): 18,104 Gross Leasable Area (SF): 8,988 & 8,716 
Gross Land Area (Acres): 4.06 Efficiency Ratio: 98% 

Building Class: C Number of Stories 1 
Property Condition: Good Year Built: 1970 

Comments 

Lease Remarks: 

Both leased areas were designed to suit the present tenants. 
Office space is well appointed with private offices, boardrooms 
etc. The lot is 4.06 acres allowing easy access for commercial 
vehicles.   

Property Remarks: 

This building  is situated on Great Northern Road between Drive In 
Road and Third Line East on the west side. It was completely 
renovated after it was purchased in 2007. The front of the 
building is highly finished office space and mezzanine. The rear 
part is shop area with 23 foot ceiling height. 
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Industrial Comparable Lease Map 
 
Map 5 
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Industrial Comparable Leased Listings 
 
It was discovered that most industrial leases are written on a triple net basis whereby the 

tenant pays all of the operating costs associated with the property. 

 
Industrial Net Lease Rates 
 
Based on the properties surveyed and the information provided, the net lease rate for 
industrial buildings is in the range of $6.95 to $8.62 PSF. Currently there is industrial space 
available for $7.00 PSF, however, only smaller units less than 10,000 SF. Although there were 

no lesser quality buildings used in the rental study, they range from $4.00 PSF to $6.00 PSF 
depending on location.  
 
Summary & Conclusions 
 
There are three separate industrial buildings 
on the site. However, only two of the 

buildings would be considered to be rentable. 
The small, metal clad shop on the east side of 
the metering shop would simply be ancillary 

to the metering shop. The most elaborate 
structure is the 8,020 SF building situated on 

the east side of the main office building on 
Sackville Road. This building has frontage and 
visibility from Northern Avenue and will be 

referred to as Industrial Building 1. 
 
In our opinion, this building would command the highest rental rate of the two  buildings. For 

the purpose of this report; the market rent for this building would be $7.00 PSF net. 
 
 The second building (Industrial Building 2) is 

situated at the rear of the property. Built in 
1969, it is a 3,200 SF metal clad building used 
primarily for storage.  

 
This building has only a minimal degree of 
interior finish but would be suitable for dry 

storage or manufacturing because of its 
ceiling height. There is only one small office 
that is heated and the remaining building is 

open space. Based on the comparable leases, 
the market rent of this building is estimated 

at $5.00 PSF net. 
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Market Analysis: Property Type 3 – Vacant Industrial Land 
 
Valuation Procedures and Methodologies 

Current appraisal standards recognize three basic approaches to real estate value.  These are 
identified as the Cost, Income, and Sales Comparison Approaches. 

 
1) The Cost Approach to value is developed by two fundamental opinions: the value of the 

land and the value of the improvements to the land.  Initially, the current fair market 

value of the land is estimated as if unimproved and capable of being put to its highest and 
best use.  The reproduction or replacement cost new of the improvements, less any 
depreciation, is then added, along with any contributory value of the site improvements.  

The validity of the resulting value estimate is impacted to varying degrees by the accuracy 
of the cost estimates and the depreciation estimate.  

§ A Cost Approach to Value has been considered but is not regarded to be a necessary 

part in developing a credible result to this appraisal assignment and will not be 
completed as a part of this appraisal assignment by mutual agreement between the 

client and appraiser based on the intended use and scope of this appraisal 
 
2) The Income Approach measures value by capitalization of the net income from the real 

estate.  The potential gross income is first estimated based on data derived directly from 
the market.  Deductions are then made for vacancy and collection loss (when applicable), 
and normal operating expenses.  The resulting net income figure is then converted to a 

value estimate by any one of several capitalization methods.  

§ An Income Approach to Value is not regarded to be a necessary part in developing a 
credible result to this assignment and will not be completed as a part of this 

appraisal assignment by mutual agreement between the client and appraiser based 
on the intended use and scope of this appraisal. 

 

3) The Sales Comparison Approach to value compares the subject to similar properties that 
have sold or are under contract in the same or similar market. This approach is based on 
the principle of substitution, which states that no commodity has a value greater than a 

similar commodity offering similar uses, similar utility, and similar function that can be 
purchased within a reasonable time frame.  In other words, the market value of a property 
is set by the price of acquiring a substitute property, which could provide the owner with 

similar utility.  The principle of substitution also is crucial in reconciling all three 
approaches to value, as it provides linkage in the underlying determination the subject’s 

market value. 
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The Sales Comparison Approach (Land Value)  

Units of Comparison 

Using a common unit of comparison is an effective device to adjust for differences in physical 
characteristics while controlling for scale or some other factor.  This control allows the 
appraisers to determine the impact of differences in attributes between the subject and 

comparable sale properties.   
 
As for the subject, the appraisers discussed recent market transactions with area brokers, as 

well as evaluating the physical attributes of the subject’s use type.  In both instances, the 
predominant unit of comparison was sale price per acre.   

Elements of Comparison 

There are eight major comparison categories that must be considered in the direct sales 

comparison approach. These include the following: 
 

1.  Property rights conveyed  
2. Financing 
3. Conditions of Sale 

4.  Expenditures made after sale 
5. Market Trends 
6. Location of Sale Property 

7. Physical Attributes 
8. Economic Attributes 
 

Sale Collection Results 

Of the sales reviewed, based on the above criteria, the following sales represent the best 
available from the market to determine the subject’s market potential under this valuation 
approach.  While some are more ideal than others, the appraisers believe that they represent a 

sufficient sample of the data reviewed to illustrate a sound market-based conclusion for the 
subject.   The transmission lines affect a portion of vacant land consisting of about 6.04 acres 
in a manner that would virtually render the property unsuitable for symbiotic development.  

 
The selected comparable sales are presented on the following pages. 
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Vacant Industrial Land Comparable Index #A: 67 Industrial Park C 

 
 
Sale Information 

§ Consideration $75,000 

§ Sale Date January 31, 2007 
§ Sale Price/Acre $53,957 
§ Vendor Play and Replay Inc. 

§ Purchaser Mike Moore and Sons Ltd. 
 
Property Information 

§ Property Size (Ac) 1.39 

§ PIN Number 315610012 
§ Zoning M2 

§ Location West of great Northern Road & North of Second Line 
§ Comments Typical serviced lot in an industrial park setting. Situated 

in and area almost completely developed with light and 

heavy industrial uses. 
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Vacant Industrial Land Comparable Index #B: 120 Yates 

 
 
Sale Information 

§ Consideration $50,000 

§ Sale Date December 17, 2007 
§ Sale Price/Acre $24,752 

§ Vendor THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 
§ Purchaser PARNIAK, NICHOLAS STEVEN 
 
Property Information 

§ Property Size (Ac) 2.02 
§ PIN Number 316090360 
§ Zoning M2 

§ Location East of Allans Road and South of Wallace Terrace 
§ Comments Industrial Park near the west side of Essar Steel. Limited 

development in the area but good location for steel 
related industries. 
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 Vacant Industrial Land Comparable Index #C: 873 Second Line East 

 
 
Sale Information 

§ Consideration $140,000 

§ Sale Date July 17, 2007 
§ Sale Price/Acre $52,239 

§ Vendor ALGONQUIN RADIO - T.V. CO. LIMITED; MCAULEY, JAMES  
§ Purchaser 1743407 ONTARIO LTD. 
 
Property Information 

§ Property Size (Ac) 2.68 
§ PIN Number 315140083 
§ Zoning M1 

§ Location East of Old Garden River Road on the South side of 
Second Line 

§ Comments Level site in a busy, high traffic location. Site was 

leveled and cleared to make way for storage buildings 
within a secure compound. 
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Vacant Industrial Land Comparable Index #D: Lower McNabb Street 

 
 
Sale Information 

§ Consideration $175,000 
§ Sale Date March 31, 2004 

§ Sale Price/Acre $58,528 
§ Vendor Meekin Forest Products 
§ Purchaser 1309872 ONTARIO INC. 

 
Property Information 

§ Property Size (Ac) 2.99 

§ PIN Number 315030001 
§ Zoning M3 
§ Location East of the Blue Heron Industrial Park 

§ Comments Good Industrial building site in a fairly high traffic 
location. Mixture of industrial and commercial 
enterprises in the area. Also near the fuel storage tanks. 
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Vacant Industrial Land Comparable Index #E: 605 Third Line West 

 
 
Sale Information 

§ Consideration 107,000 
§ Sale Date March 14, 2007 
§ Sale Price/Acre $25,236 

§ Vendor THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 
§ Purchaser 1187839 ONTARIO LIMITED 
 
Property Information 

§ Property Size (Ac) 4.24 
§ PIN Number 315610101 

§ Zoning M2 
§ Location South of Third Line E & West of Great Northern Road 
§ Comments Level parcel of land that required extensive fill. Heavy 

concentration of development surrounding the site. 
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Vacant Industrial Land Comparable Index #F: 638 Black Road 

 
 
Sale Information 

§ Consideration $200,000 
§ Sale Date September 20, 2006 

§ Sale Price/Acre $41,580 
§ Vendor 1372040 ONTARIO INC. 
§ Purchaser BETHEL BIBLE CHAPEL 

 
Property Information 

§ Property Size (Ac) 4.81 
§ PIN Number 315050037 

§ Zoning M2 
§ Location On the east side of Black road just north of Second Line  

§ Comments Level parcel of land that was severed into two smaller 
lots with access on to Black Road. 
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Vacant Industrial Land Comparable Sales Map 
 
Map 6 
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Sales Analysis: Property Type 3 – Vacant Industrial Land 
 
The comparable sales selected were smaller tracts of industrial land that sold within the city of 

Sault Ste. Marie. Adjustments are summarized as follows: 
 
§ The transactions dated back to March of 2004. Consequently, an adjustment was 

required for the time elapsed between the effective date of the report and the sale 
date.  

§ The properties ranged in size from 1.39 acres to 4.81 acres. For comparative purposes, 

they were compared on a price per acre basis (the zonal unit rate).  

§ All of the sales had similar physical characteristics.  No adjustment required. 

 
Table 6 

Subject Index A Index B Index C Index D Index E Index F

Address Sackville Rd. 67 Industrial 
Park C

120 Yates Ave. 873 Second 
Line East

McNabb Street 605 Third Line 
W.

638 Black Road

City Sault Ste. 
Marie

Sault Ste. 
Marie

Sault Ste. 
Marie

Sault Ste. 
Marie

Sault Ste. 
Marie

Sault Ste. 
Marie

Sault Ste. Marie

Recording Date ----- 31/01/2007 17/12/2007 17/07/2007 31/03/2004 14/03/2007 20/09/2006

Sale Price -----  $         75,000  $         50,000  $        140,000  $        175,000  $        107,000  $          200,000 

Land Area (SF) 263,102 60,548 87,991 116,741 130,244 184,694 209,524

Land Area (Acres) 6.040 1.39 2.02 2.68 2.99 4.24 4.81

 $     53,957  $     24,752  $     52,239  $     58,528  $     25,236  $       41,580 

Appraisal Date 19/11/2008
Months Elapsed --------- 21.93 11.27 16.37 56.47 20.53 26.37
Annual % Adj. 5.00%

9.0% 5.0% 7.0% 24.0% 9.0% 11.0%
 $           4,856  $           1,238  $           3,657  $         14,047  $           2,271  $             4,574 
 $         58,813  $         25,990  $         55,896  $         72,575  $         27,507  $           46,154 

Similar Inferior Similar Similar Inferior Inferior
0.0% 75.0% 0.0% 0.0% 25.0% 10.0%

 $                -    $         19,493  $                -    $                -    $           6,877  $             4,615 
 $         58,813  $         45,483  $         55,896  $         72,575  $         34,384  $           50,769 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No
-10.0% -10.0% -7.5% -7.5% -5.0% -5.0%

 $     (5,881.29)  $     (4,548.27)  $     (4,192.16)  $     (5,443.14)  $     (1,719.19)  $       (2,538.46)
 $         52,932  $         40,934  $         51,703  $         67,132  $         32,665  $           48,231 

Net Percent Adjustment -1.0% 70.0% -0.5% 16.5% 29.0% 16.0%

Net Adjustment (1,025)$       16,182$      (535)$          8,604$        7,429$        6,651$         

Adjusted Price 52,932$      40,934$      51,703$      67,132$      32,665$      48,231$        

No. Comparables ……………………. 6 Land Area (SF) 6.040            

Maximum………………………………….. 67,132$       Indicated Subject Value Per SF……. 50,000$         

Mean (avg.)……………………………….. 48,933$       Indicated Subject Value………. 302,000$       

Minimum………………………………….. 32,665$       Indicated Value Rounded To…………. 302,000$      

Indicated Subject ValuePrice/Rentable Area Comparison

Dollar Adjustment
Adjusted Price

Size Adjustment

Location
Percent Adjustment
Dollar Adjustment

Adjusted Price

Land Value - Market Approach to Value

Percent Adjustment
Dollar Adjustment

Adjusted Price

Price/Ac

Time/Market Conditions

Percent Adjustment
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The table above summarizes the adjustment process. Before adjustments, the value range was 
between $24,752 and $58,528 per acre. This changed to $32,665 to $67,132 after adjustments. 

It is obvious from the spread that there is a significant range amongst the sales. Sale #1 is the 
most similar in location to the subject, having sold for $52,932 per acre after adjustments. 
This is slightly higher than the average value of $48,933 per acre. Therefore, it was concluded 

that $50,000 per acre is the estimated zonal value of the industrial land. 
  

Once again; the formula for calculating the value of the subject land is relatively simple 

whereby the size of the property is multiplied by the zonal value; 
 

6.04 acres (Size) X $50,000 per acre (zonal value) = $302,000  
 
It has been concluded from the foregoing sales analysis, that the Current Unimproved Market 

Value of the industrial vacant land is estimated at $302,000. 

Map 7 
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Industrial Vacant Land Lease Rate 
 
Determination of Market Rent 

The formula for establishing market rent for vacant land is simply an interpolation of the 

formula used to determine value when the Income (I) and the Capitalization Rate (R) is known.  

V = I ÷ R 

In this situation, the value (V) of the land is known (estimated) through the analysis of 
comparable property sales. The capitalization rate (R) is also market derived from the analysis 
of sales. The formula for determination of market rent is: 

I = V X R 

Income is the net annual income that is required to meet the investment objectives. 
 

Capitalization Rates  

Table 7 

Sale Date of Sale
Net Annual 

Income ( I ) at 
Date of Sale

Total Real Estate 
Cash Equivalent 
Sale Price (V)

Overall 
Captalization Rate 

( R )
851 Great Northern Rd. 01-Jan-05 180,000$            1,300,000$             13.8%
45-47 Great Northern Rd. 01-Nov-05 32,000$              275,000$                11.6%
2200 Queen Street 01-Apr-05 50,400$              525,000$                9.6%
364-372 Second Line West 01-Sep-04 237,774$            2,425,000$             9.8%
289 Goulais Ave. 30-Oct-06 24,115$              300,000$                8.0%
384 Shannon Rd. 24-Nov-06 25,553$              289,000$                8.8%
128 Second Line W. 04-Apr-07 27,835$              260,000$                10.7%
690 Pine Street 13-Dec-06 21,620$              230,000$                9.4%
700 Pine Street 24-Sep-07 21,655$              232,000$                9.3%
21 Ferguson Ave. 29-Jun-07 37,397$              440,000$                8.5%
33-49 Blue Jay Ct. 12-Jul-07 40,332$              410,000$                9.8%
185 East Street 09-Mar-07 56,975 415,000$                13.7%
597 Lake Street 26-Mar-07 36,000$              385,000$                9.4%
647 McDonald Avenue 09-Mar-05 64,000$              525,000$                12.2%
136 Church Street 25-Jun-07 38,807$              350,000$                11.1%
381 McNabb Street 01-Nov-04 52,920$              600,000$                8.8%
Average 10.3%

Range 8.0% to 13.8%

Legend
Industrial 11.6% to 13.8%
Commercial 8.8% to 13.7%
Apartments 8.0% to 11.1%

SUMMARY OF OVERALL CAPITALIZATION RATES OBTAINED FROM
COMPARABLE MARKET DATA
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Summary & Conclusions 
 
As the table suggests, Capitalization Rates for industrial property typically are higher than 
commercial or residential property. On the other hand, land capitalization rates will by lower 

than improved property capitalization rates as there is no need to allow for depreciating 
buildings. Given the industrial rates are ranging from 11.6% to 13.8%, it is probable that an 
investor would be satisfied with a 10% return on a vacant industrial land lease.  

 
Assuming the land value is $302,000 as concluded in the market analysis and the capitalization 
rate is 10%, the market rent is calculated using the formula described previously; 

 
I = V X R 

= $302,000 X 10% 

= $30,200 per year or $2,516.67 per month 
 
This does not include realty taxes which would be the responsibility of the lessee.  
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Reconciliation and Value Conclusions 
 
The pertinent approaches to value have been summarized in this appraisal analysis.  A summary 

of the value conclusions of each of these individual approaches indicates the following: 
 

Property Type 1: Office Building 
 

¡ Above Grade (Floors 1 & 2): 

¡ Below Grade (Basement): 

$5.50 PSF to $ 7.50 PSF NET 

$  1.50 PSF to $ 3.50 PSF NET 

 
 

Property Type 2: Industrial Buildings 
 
¡ Industrial Building 1: 

¡ Industrial Building 2: 

$ 7.00 PSF NET 

$ 5.00 PSF NET 

 

Property Type 3: Vacant Industrial Land  
 

¡ 6.04 Vacant Industrial Land 
$30,200 / YEAR NET 

$2,516.67 / MONTH NET 
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Limiting Conditions and Assumptions 
 
1. The estimated market value of the real estate which is the subject of this appraisal 

pertains to the value of the fee simple interest in the real property.  The property rights 
appraised herein exclude mineral rights, if any. 

2. The concept of market value presumes reasonable exposure.  The exposure period is the 

estimated length of time the asset being valued would have been offered on the market 
prior to the hypothetical consummation of a sale at market value on the effective date of 
valuation.  The overall concept of reasonable exposure encompasses not only adequate, 

sufficient and reasonable time but also adequate, sufficient and reasonable effort.  The 
reasonable exposure period is a function not only of time and effort, but will depend on 
the type of asset being valued, the state of the market at the date of valuation and the 

level at which the asset is priced.  (The estimated length of the exposure period needed to 
achieve the estimated market value is set forth in the Letter of Transmittal, prefacing this 
report). 

3. The estimate of value contained in this report is founded upon a thorough and diligent 
examination and analysis of information gathered and obtained from numerous sources.  

Certain information has been accepted at face value; especially if there was no reason to 
doubt its accuracy.  Other empirical data required interpretative analysis pursuant to the 
objective of this appraisal.  Certain inquiries were outside the scope of this mandate.  For 

these reasons, the analyses, opinions and conclusions contained in this report are subject 
to the following Contingent and Limiting conditions. 

4. The property has been valued on the basis that title to the real estate herein appraised is 

good and marketable. 

5. The author of this report cannot accept responsibility for legal matters, questions of 
survey, opinions of title, hidden or unapparent conditions of the property, toxic wastes or 

contaminated materials, soil or sub-soil conditions, environmental, engineering or other 
technical matters which might render this property more or less valuable than as stated 
herein.  If it came to our attention as the result of our investigation and analysis that 

certain problems may exist, a cautionary note has been entered in the body of the report. 

6. The legal description of the property and the area of the site were obtained from the 
Municipal Office.  Further, the plans and sketches contained in this report are included 

solely to aid the recipient in visualizing the location of the property, the configuration and 
boundaries of the site and the relative position of the improvements on the said lands. 

7. The property has been valued on the basis that the real estate is free and clear of all value 
influencing encumbrances, encroachments, restrictions or covenants except as may be 
noted in this report and that there are no pledges, charges, liens or special assessments 

outstanding against the property other than as stated and described herein. 

8. The property has been valued on the basis that there are no outstanding liabilities except 
as expressly noted herein, pursuant to any agreement with a municipal or other 

government authority, pursuant to any contract or agreement pertaining to the ownership 
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and operation of the real estate or pursuant to any lease or agreement to lease, which may 
affect the stated value or saleability of the subject property or any portion thereof. 

9. The interpretation of the leases and other contractual agreements, pertaining to the 
operation and ownership of the property, as expressed herein, is solely the opinion of the 
author and should not be construed as a legal interpretation.  Further, the summaries of 

these contractual agreements are presented for the sole purpose of giving the reader an 
overview of the salient facts thereof. 

10. The property has been valued on the basis that the real estate complies in all material 

respects with any restrictive covenants affecting the site and has been built and is 
occupied and being operated, in all material respects, in full compliance with all 

requirements of law, including all zoning, land use classification, building, planning, fire 
and health by-laws, rules, regulations, orders and codes of all federal, provincial, regional 
and municipal governmental authorities having jurisdiction with respect thereto.  (It is 

recognized there may be work orders or other notices of violation of law outstanding with 
respect to the real estate and that there may be certain requirements of law preventing 
occupancy of the real estate as described in this report.  However, such circumstances 

have not been accounted for in the appraisal process). 

11. Investigations have been undertaken in respect of matters which regulate the use of land.  
However, no inquiries have been placed with the fire department, the building inspector, 

the health department or any other government regulatory agency, unless such 
investigations are expressly represented to have been made in this report.  The subject 
property must comply with such regulations and, if it does not comply, its non-compliance 

may affect the market value of this property.  To be certain of such compliance, further 
investigations may be necessary. 

12. It is imperative that the reader or any other interested party be aware that the Appraiser 

did not inspect the premises for fire detection or smoke detection systems, or for the 
presence of carbon monoxide detectors, nor did the Appraiser inspect the condition of such 

equipment, if present.  The Appraiser takes no responsibility whatsoever for the lack of, or 
condition of, detection devices that may be located on the premises, nor does the 
Appraiser warrant compliance in any manner of such equipment, if present. 

13. The property has been valued on the basis that there is no action, suit, proceeding or 
investigation pending or threatened against the real estate or affecting the titular owners 
of the property, at law or in equity or before or by any federal, provincial or municipal 

department, commission, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality which may adversely 
influence the value of the real estate herein appraised.  

14. The property has been valued on the basis that all leases, agreements to lease, or other 

contractual agreements relating to the terms and conditions of the tenants’ occupation of 
space within the subject property are fully enforceable, notwithstanding that such 
documentation may not be fully executed by the parties thereto as at the date of this 

appraisal. 
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15. The property has been valued on the basis that all rents referred to in this report are being 
paid in full and when due and payable under the terms and conditions of the attendant 

leases, agreements to lease or other contractual agreements. Further, it is assumed that 
all rents referred to in this report represent the rental arrangements stipulated in the 
leases, agreements to lease or other contractual agreements pertaining to the tenants' 

occupancy, to the extent that such rents have not been prepaid, abated, or inflated to 
reflect extraordinary circumstances, and are full enforceable notwithstanding that such 
documentation may not be fully executed by the parties thereto as at the date of this 

appraisal, unless such conditions have been identified and noted in this report. 

16. The data and statistical information contained herein were gathered from reliable sources 

and are believed to be correct.  However, these data are not guaranteed for accuracy, 
even though every attempt has been made to verify the authenticity of this information as 
much as possible.  

17. The estimated market value of the property does not necessarily represent the value of the 
underlying shares, if the asset is so held, as the value of the share could be affected by 
other considerations.  Further, the estimated market value does not include consideration 

of any extraordinary financing, rental or income guarantees, special tax considerations or 
any other atypical benefits which may influence the ordinary market value of the property, 
unless the effects of such special conditions, and the extent of any special value that may 

arise therefrom, have been described and measured in this report. 

18. Should title to the real estate presently be held (or changed to a holding) by a partnership, 
in a joint venture, through a CO-tenancy arrangement or by any other form of divisional 

ownership, the value of any fractional interest associated therewith may be more or less 
than the percentage of ownership appearing in the contractual agreement pertaining to the 
structure of such divisional ownership.  For the purposes of our valuation, we have not 

made any adjustment for the value of a fractional interest. 

19. In the event of syndication, the aggregate value of the limited partnership interests may be 

greater than the value of the freehold or fee simple interest in the real estate, by reason 
of the possible contributory value of non-realty interests or benefits such as provision for 
tax shelter, potential for capital appreciation, special investment privileges, particular 

occupancy and income guarantees, special financing or extraordinary agreements for 
management services. 

20. Unless otherwise noted, the estimated market value of the property referred to herein is 

predicated upon the condition that it would be sold on a cash basis to the vendor subject 
to any contractual agreements and encumbrances as noted in this report as-is and where-
is, without any contingent agreements or caveats.  Other financial arrangements, good or 

cumbersome, may affect the price at which this property might sell in the open market. 

21. Should the author of this report be required to give testimony or appear in court or at any 
administrative proceeding relating to this appraisal, prior arrangements shall be made 

therefore, including provisions for additional compensation to permit adequate time for 
preparation and for any appearances which may be required.  However, neither this nor 
any other of these assumptions and limiting conditions is an attempt to limit the use that 
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might be made of this report should it properly become evidence in a judicial proceeding.  
In such a case, it is acknowledged that it is the judicial body which will decide the use of 

this report which best serves the administration of justice. 

22. Appraisals are based on the data available at the time the assignment is completed. 
Amendments/modifications to appraisals based on new information made available after 

the appraisal was completed will be made, as soon as reasonably possible, for an additional 
fee. 

23. Because market conditions, including economic, social and political factors, change rapidly 

and, on occasion, without notice or warning, the estimate of market value expressed 
herein, as of the effective date of this appraisal, cannot necessarily be relied upon as of 

any other date without subsequent advice of the author of this report. 

24. The value expressed herein is in Canadian dollars. 

25. This report is only valid if it bears the original signature(s) of the author(s).  

26. These Contingent and Limiting Conditions shall be read with all changes in number and 
gender as may be appropriate or required by the context or by the particulars of this 
mandate. 
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Certification  
 
I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:  
 
1 The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 

2 The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions are my personal, unbiased professional 

analyses, opinions and conclusions.  

3 I have no personal interest or bias with respect to the parties involved. 

4 My analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed and this report has been prepared 
in conformity with the Canadian Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(CUSPAP).  

5 Mario DeVuono, a candidate with our firm made an interior and exterior inspection of the 
subject property that is the subject of this report.  

6 I have made a personal exterior inspection of the property that is the subject of this 

report.  

7 My compensation is not contingent upon the reporting of a predetermined value or 
direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value estimate, 

the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event.  

8 The Appraiser has established sufficient competence to prepare this report through 
education and experience, in addition to the internal resources of the appraisal firm.  

9 My value conclusion and other opinions expressed herein are not based on a requested 
minimum value, a specific value or approval of a loan. 

10 The Appraisal Institute of Canada has a Mandatory Recertification Program for designated 

members.  As of the date of this report, Samuel G. Butkovich AACI, has fulfilled the 
requirements of the program.   

11 The value estimate contained in this report applies as of February 27, 2009.  This date may 
be referred to as the effective date of valuation. 

 
________________________________ 
Samuel G. Butkovich AACI March 3, 2009 
President 
AREA Real Estate Appraisals Inc. 
Certificate #2805 
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Addendum 
 
Zoning Regulations 
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Fixed Asset Continuity Schedule
2005 Historical

CCA 
Class OEB Description

Depreciation 
Rate Opening Balance Additions Disposals Closing Balance Opening Balance Additions Disposals Closing Balance Net Book Value

N/A 1705 Land 0.00% 544,437                 -                         -                         544,437                 -                         -                         -                         -                         544,437                 
47 1715 Station Equipment 2.50% 82,862,074            12,772,606            (70,099)                  95,564,581            (24,418,176)           (2,178,483)             48,026                   (26,548,633)           69,015,948            
47 1720 Towers and Fixtures 2.50% 23,147,286            -                         -                         23,147,286            (5,857,494)             (578,682)                -                         (6,436,176)             16,711,110            
47 1725 Poles and Fixtures 4.00% 35,241,848            23,334,736            (9,881,927)             48,694,658            (7,950,932)             (908,717)                1,234,770              (7,624,879)             41,069,779            
47 1730 Overhead Conductors & Devices 2.50% 18,553,671            19,901,730            (1,070,006)             37,385,395            (5,581,036)             (653,726)                638,033                 (5,596,730)             31,788,665            
47 1740 Underground Conductors & Devices 4.00% 160,387                 -                         -                         160,387                 (144,348)                (6,415)                    -                         (150,764)                9,623                     
47 1745 Road and Trails 2.50% 497,389                 -                         -                         497,389                 (373,707)                (9,756)                    -                         (383,464)                113,926                 
47 1908 Buildings and Fixtures 4.00% 5,264                     30,413                   -                         35,677                   (2,334)                    (819)                       -                         (3,153)                    32,524                   
8 1915 Office Furniture & Equipment 10.00% -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
8 1920 Computer Equipment - Hardware 20.00% 19,094                   -                         -                         19,094                   (13,366)                  (3,819)                    -                         (17,184)                  1,909                     
8 1925 Computer Software 20.00% 28,367                   -                         -                         28,367                   (14,184)                  (5,673)                    -                         (19,857)                  8,510                     
10 1930 Transportation Equipment 20.00% -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
8 1940 Tools, Shop and Garage Equipment 10.00% -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
8 1955 Communication Equipment 10.00% 1,386,249              24,100                   -                         1,410,350              (1,079,486)             (77,807)                  -                         (1,157,293)             253,056                 
8 1960 Miscellaneous Equipment 10.00% 15,483                   -                         -                         15,483                   (2,322)                    (1,548)                    -                         (3,871)                    11,612                   
47 1990 Other Tangible Property 2.50% 757,041                 -                         -                         757,041                 (757,041)                -                         -                         (757,041)                -                         

Subtotal 163,218,590        56,063,585          (11,022,032)         208,260,144        (46,194,427)          (4,425,447)           1,920,829            (48,699,044)         159,561,100        

47 1715 Station Equipment 2.50% -                         (1,485,600)             -                         (1,485,600)             -                         18,570                   -                         18,570                   (1,467,030)             

Total 163,218,590        54,577,985          (11,022,032)         206,774,544        (46,194,427)          (4,406,877)           1,920,829            (48,680,474)         158,094,070        

Cost Accumulated Depreciation
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Fixed Asset Continuity Schedule

2006 Historical

CCA 
Class OEB Description

Depreciation 
Rate Opening Balance Additions Disposals Closing Balance Opening Balance Additions Disposals Closing Balance Net Book Value

N/A 1705 Land 0.00% 544,437                 -                         -                         544,437                 -                         -                         -                         -                         544,437                 
47 1715 Station Equipment 2.50% 95,564,581            24,869,970            (448,610)                119,985,941          (26,548,633)           (2,643,952)             411,987                 (28,780,598)           91,205,344            
47 1720 Towers and Fixtures 2.50% 23,147,286            536,602                 -                         23,683,888            (6,436,176)             (580,918)                -                         (7,017,094)             16,666,794            
47 1725 Poles and Fixtures 4.00% 48,694,658            7,923,983              -                         56,618,640            (7,624,879)             (1,214,918)             -                         (8,839,797)             47,778,844            
47 1730 Overhead Conductors & Devices 2.50% 37,385,395            6,425,468              -                         43,810,863            (5,596,730)             (983,881)                -                         (6,580,610)             37,230,252            
47 1740 Underground Conductors & Devices 4.00% 160,387                 -                         -                         160,387                 (150,764)                (6,415)                    -                         (157,179)                3,208                     
47 1745 Road and Trails 2.50% 497,389                 -                         -                         497,389                 (383,464)                (9,756)                    -                         (393,220)                104,169                 
47 1908 Buildings and Fixtures 4.00% 35,677                   -                         -                         35,677                   (3,153)                    (1,381)                    -                         (4,534)                    31,143                   
8 1915 Office Furniture & Equipment 10.00% -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
8 1920 Computer Equipment - Hardware 20.00% 19,094                   -                         -                         19,094                   (17,184)                  (1,909)                    -                         (19,094)                  -                         
8 1925 Computer Software 20.00% 28,367                   -                         -                         28,367                   (19,857)                  (5,673)                    -                         (25,530)                  2,837                     
10 1930 Transportation Equipment 20.00% -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
8 1940 Tools, Shop and Garage Equipment 10.00% -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
8 1955 Communication Equipment 10.00% 1,410,350              9,900                     -                         1,420,249              (1,157,293)             (79,095)                  -                         (1,236,388)             183,861                 
8 1960 Miscellaneous Equipment 10.00% 15,483                   1,461                     -                         16,944                   (3,871)                    (1,597)                    -                         (5,468)                    11,476                   
47 1990 Other Tangible Property 2.50% 757,041                 -                         -                         757,041                 (757,041)                -                         -                         (757,041)                -                         

Subtotal 208,260,144        39,767,383          (448,610)              247,578,917        (48,699,044)          (5,529,496)           411,987               (53,816,553)         193,762,364        

47 1715 Station Equipment 2.50% (1,485,600)             -                         -                         (1,485,600)             18,570                   37,140                   -                         55,710                   (1,429,890)             

Total 206,774,544        39,767,383          (448,610)              246,093,317        (48,680,474)          (5,492,356)           411,987               (53,760,843)         192,332,474        

Cost Accumulated Depreciation
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Fixed Asset Continuity Schedule

2007 Historical

CCA 
Class OEB Description

Depreciation 
Rate Opening Balance Additions Disposals Closing Balance Opening Balance Additions Disposals Closing Balance Net Book Value

N/A 1705 Land 0.00% 544,437                 -                         -                         544,437                 -                         -                         -                         -                         544,437                 
47 1715 Station Equipment 2.50% 119,985,941          15,724,905            (142,193)                135,568,654          (28,780,598)           (2,966,411)             34,051                   (31,712,957)           103,855,696          
47 1720 Towers and Fixtures 2.50% 23,683,888            -                         -                         23,683,888            (7,017,094)             (592,097)                -                         (7,609,192)             16,074,696            
47 1725 Poles and Fixtures 4.00% 56,618,640            2,025,031              -                         58,643,672            (8,839,797)             (1,404,150)             -                         (10,243,947)           48,399,725            
47 1730 Overhead Conductors & Devices 2.50% 43,810,863            (580,268)                -                         43,230,595            (6,580,610)             (1,060,060)             -                         (7,640,670)             35,589,925            
47 1740 Underground Conductors & Devices 4.00% 160,387                 -                         -                         160,387                 (157,179)                (3,208)                    -                         (160,387)                (0)                           
47 1745 Road and Trails 2.50% 497,389                 -                         -                         497,389                 (393,220)                (9,756)                    -                         (402,976)                94,413                   
47 1908 Buildings and Fixtures 4.00% 35,677                   -                         -                         35,677                   (4,534)                    (1,335)                    -                         (5,870)                    29,807                   
8 1915 Office Furniture & Equipment 10.00% -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
8 1920 Computer Equipment - Hardware 20.00% 19,094                   -                         -                         19,094                   (19,094)                  -                         -                         (19,094)                  -                         
8 1925 Computer Software 20.00% 28,367                   4,967                     -                         33,334                   (25,530)                  (3,665)                    -                         (29,195)                  4,139                     
10 1930 Transportation Equipment 20.00% -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
8 1940 Tools, Shop and Garage Equipment 10.00% -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
8 1955 Communication Equipment 10.00% 1,420,249              222                        -                         1,420,471              (1,236,388)             (80,025)                  -                         (1,316,413)             104,058                 
8 1960 Miscellaneous Equipment 10.00% 16,944                   -                         -                         16,944                   (5,468)                    (1,694)                    -                         (7,162)                    9,782                     
47 1990 Other Tangible Property 2.50% 757,041                 -                         -                         757,041                 (757,041)                -                         -                         (757,041)                -                         

Subtotal 247,578,917        17,174,858          (142,193)              264,611,581        (53,816,553)          (6,122,401)           34,051                 (59,904,902)         204,706,680        

47 1715 Station Equipment 2.50% (1,485,600)             -                         -                         (1,485,600)             55,710                   37,140                   -                         92,850                   (1,392,750)             

Total 246,093,317        17,174,858          (142,193)              263,125,981        (53,760,843)          (6,085,261)           34,051                 (59,812,052)         203,313,930        

Cost Accumulated Depreciation
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Fixed Asset Continuity Schedule

2008 Historical

CCA 
Class OEB Description

Depreciation 
Rate Opening Balance Additions Disposals Closing Balance Opening Balance Additions Disposals Closing Balance Net Book Value

N/A 1705 Land 0.00% 544,437                 -                         -                         544,437                 -                         -                         -                         -                         544,437                 
47 1715 Station Equipment 2.50% 135,568,654          10,303,062            (264,891)                145,606,824          (31,712,957)           (3,387,848)             179,259                 (34,921,546)           110,685,278          
47 1720 Towers and Fixtures 2.50% 23,683,888            -                         -                         23,683,888            (7,609,192)             (592,097)                -                         (8,201,289)             15,482,599            
47 1725 Poles and Fixtures 4.00% 58,643,672            717,522                 -                         59,361,193            (10,243,947)           (1,450,006)             -                         (11,693,953)           47,667,241            
47 1730 Overhead Conductors & Devices 2.50% 43,230,595            -                         -                         43,230,595            (7,640,670)             (1,046,704)             -                         (8,687,374)             34,543,221            
47 1740 Underground Conductors & Devices 4.00% 160,387                 -                         -                         160,387                 (160,387)                -                         -                         (160,387)                (0)                           
47 1745 Road and Trails 2.50% 497,389                 24,653                   -                         522,042                 (402,976)                (9,807)                    -                         (412,783)                109,259                 
47 1908 Buildings and Fixtures 4.00% 35,677                   -                         -                         35,677                   (5,870)                    (1,335)                    -                         (7,205)                    28,472                   
8 1915 Office Furniture & Equipment 10.00% -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
8 1920 Computer Equipment - Hardware 20.00% 19,094                   5,075                     -                         24,169                   (19,094)                  (85)                         -                         (19,178)                  4,991                     
8 1925 Computer Software 20.00% 33,334                   8,337                     -                         41,671                   (29,195)                  (2,035)                    -                         (31,230)                  10,441                   
10 1930 Transportation Equipment 20.00% -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
8 1940 Tools, Shop and Garage Equipment 10.00% -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
8 1955 Communication Equipment 10.00% 1,420,471              -                         -                         1,420,471              (1,316,413)             (57,156)                  -                         (1,373,569)             46,902                   
8 1960 Miscellaneous Equipment 10.00% 16,944                   -                         -                         16,944                   (7,162)                    (1,694)                    -                         (8,857)                    8,087                     
47 1990 Other Tangible Property 2.50% 757,041                 -                         -                         757,041                 (757,041)                -                         -                         (757,041)                -                         

Subtotal 264,611,581        11,058,649          (264,891)              275,405,339        (59,904,902)          (6,548,768)           179,259               (66,274,411)         209,130,928        

47 1715 Station Equipment 2.50% (1,485,600)             -                         -                         (1,485,600)             92,850                   37,140                   -                         129,990                 (1,355,610)             

Total 263,125,981        11,058,649          (264,891)              273,919,739        (59,812,052)          (6,511,628)           179,259               (66,144,421)         207,775,318        

Cost Accumulated Depreciation
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Fixed Asset Continuity Schedule

2009 Bridge

CCA 
Class OEB Description

Depreciation 
Rate Opening Balance Additions Disposals Closing Balance Opening Balance Additions Disposals Closing Balance Net Book Value

N/A 1705 Land 0.00% 544,437                 384,611                 -                         929,048                 -                         -                         -                         -                         929,048                 
47 1715 Station Equipment 2.50% 145,606,824          5,711,861              -                         151,318,686          (34,921,546)           (3,605,382)             -                         (38,526,928)           112,791,758          
47 1720 Towers and Fixtures 2.50% 23,683,888            -                         -                         23,683,888            (8,201,289)             (590,672)                -                         (8,791,961)             14,891,927            
47 1725 Poles and Fixtures 4.00% 59,361,193            -                         -                         59,361,193            (11,693,953)           (1,463,455)             -                         (13,157,408)           46,203,785            
47 1730 Overhead Conductors & Devices 2.50% 43,230,595            378,781                 -                         43,609,376            (8,687,374)             (1,046,902)             -                         (9,734,276)             33,875,100            
47 1740 Underground Conductors & Devices 4.00% 160,387                 -                         -                         160,387                 (160,387)                -                         -                         (160,387)                (0)                           
47 1745 Road and Trails 2.50% 522,042                 408,680                 -                         930,722                 (412,783)                (9,550)                    -                         (422,333)                508,388                 
47 1908 Buildings and Fixtures 4.00% 35,677                   176,350                 -                         212,027                 (7,205)                    (2,511)                    -                         (9,716)                    202,311                 
8 1915 Office Furniture & Equipment 10.00% -                         197,742                 -                         197,742                 -                         (9,887)                    -                         (9,887)                    187,855                 
10 1920 Computer Equipment - Hardware 20.00% 24,169                   665,381                 -                         689,551                 (19,178)                  (127,370)                -                         (146,549)                543,002                 
50 1925 Computer Software 20.00% 41,671                   584,441                 -                         626,112                 (31,230)                  (32,231)                  -                         (63,461)                  562,651                 
10 1930 Transportation Equipment 20.00% -                         344,595                 -                         344,595                 -                         (59,135)                  -                         (59,135)                  285,461                 
8 1940 Tools, Shop and Garage Equipment 10.00% -                         7,506                     -                         7,506                     -                         (751)                       -                         (751)                       6,755                     
8 1955 Communication Equipment 10.00% 1,420,471              79,798                   -                         1,500,268              (1,373,569)             (24,171)                  -                         (1,397,740)             102,528                 
8 1960 Miscellaneous Equipment 10.00% 16,944                   -                         -                         16,944                   (8,857)                    (1,694)                    -                         (10,551)                  6,393                     
47 1990 Other Tangible Property 2.50% 757,041                 -                         -                         757,041                 (757,041)                -                         -                         (757,041)                -                         

Subtotal 275,405,339        8,939,747            -                       284,345,086        (66,274,411)          (6,973,711)           -                       (73,248,122)         211,096,963        

47 1715 Station Equipment 2.50% (1,485,600)             -                         -                         (1,485,600)             129,990                 37,140                   -                         167,130                 (1,318,470)             

Total 273,919,739        8,939,747            -                       282,859,486        (66,144,421)          (6,936,571)           -                       (73,080,992)         209,778,493        

Cost Accumulated Depreciation
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Fixed Asset Continuity Schedule

2010 Test Year

CCA 
Class OEB Description

Depreciation 
Rate Opening Balance Additions Disposals Closing Balance Opening Balance Additions Disposals Closing Balance Net Book Value

N/A 1705 Land 0.00% 929,048                 -                         -                         929,048                 -                         -                         -                         -                         929,048                 
47 1715 Station Equipment 2.50% 151,318,686          3,781,288              -                         155,099,974          (38,526,928)           (3,766,846)             -                         (42,293,773)           112,806,200          
47 1720 Towers and Fixtures 2.50% 23,683,888            -                         -                         23,683,888            (8,791,961)             (589,247)                -                         (9,381,208)             14,302,680            
47 1725 Poles and Fixtures 4.00% 59,361,193            46,000                   -                         59,407,193            (13,157,408)           (1,456,203)             -                         (14,613,611)           44,793,582            
47 1730 Overhead Conductors & Devices 2.50% 43,609,376            -                         -                         43,609,376            (9,734,276)             (1,046,986)             -                         (10,781,261)           32,828,115            
47 1740 Underground Conductors & Devices 4.00% 160,387                 -                         -                         160,387                 (160,387)                -                         -                         (160,387)                (0)                           
47 1745 Road and Trails 2.50% 930,722                 -                         -                         930,722                 (422,333)                (15,540)                  -                         (437,873)                492,849                 
47 1908 Buildings and Fixtures 4.00% 212,027                 541,000                 -                         753,027                 (9,716)                    (19,209)                  -                         (28,925)                  724,102                 
8 1915 Office Furniture & Equipment 10.00% 197,742                 -                         -                         197,742                 (9,887)                    (19,774)                  -                         (29,661)                  168,080                 
10 1920 Computer Equipment - Hardware 20.00% 689,551                 248,000                 -                         937,551                 (146,549)                (235,670)                -                         (382,218)                555,332                 
50 1925 Computer Software 20.00% 626,112                 299,587                 -                         925,699                 (63,461)                  (159,052)                -                         (222,513)                703,186                 
10 1930 Transportation Equipment 20.00% 344,595                 130,000                 -                         474,595                 (59,135)                  (117,026)                -                         (176,161)                298,434                 
8 1940 Tools, Shop and Garage Equipment 10.00% 7,506                     -                         -                         7,506                     (751)                       (1,501)                    -                         (2,252)                    5,254                     
8 1955 Communication Equipment 10.00% 1,500,268              -                         -                         1,500,268              (1,397,740)             (15,289)                  -                         (1,413,030)             87,239                   
8 1960 Miscellaneous Equipment 10.00% 16,944                   -                         -                         16,944                   (10,551)                  (1,694)                    -                         (12,245)                  4,699                     
47 1990 Other Tangible Property 2.50% 757,041                 -                         -                         757,041                 (757,041)                -                         -                         (757,041)                -                         

Subtotal 284,345,086        5,045,875            -                       289,390,961        (73,248,122)          (7,444,038)           -                       (80,692,160)         208,698,801        

47 1715 Station Equipment 2.50% (1,485,600)             -                         -                         (1,485,600)             167,130                 37,140                   -                         204,270                 (1,281,330)             

Total 282,859,486        5,045,875            -                       287,905,361        (73,080,992)          (7,406,898)           -                       (80,487,890)         207,417,471        

Cost Accumulated Depreciation
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Auditors’ Report 
 
 
To the Directors of 
Great Lakes Power Limited 
 
 
We have audited the balance sheet of Great Lakes Power Limited Transmission Division (the “Division”) as 
at December 31, 2005 and the statements of capital account, income, and cash flows for the year then 
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Division’s management.  Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those 
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. 
 
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Division as at December 31, 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 
 

 
 
 
Chartered Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Toronto, Ontario 
March 17, 2006 
 
 

Deloitte & Touche LLP 
BCE Place 
181 Bay Street 
Suite 1400 
Toronto ON  M5J 2V1 
Canada 
 
Tel: (416) 601-6150  
Fax: (416) 601-6151  
www.deloitte.ca 

EB-2009-0408 
Exhibit 10 
Tab 1 
Schedule 2 
Appendix 54(i) 
2 of 12



GREAT LAKES POWER LIMITED TRANSMISSION DIVISION 
BALANCE SHEET
As at December 31

thousands of CDN dollars Notes  2005 2004

Assets
Current assets
Cash 1,960$            2,892$               
Accounts receivable 5,595              2,285                
Due from related parties 3 6,505              100                   
Taxes receivable 616                 -                       
Prepaid expenses and other 109                 484                   
Current portion of regulatory asset 6 1,649              -                       

16,434          5,761               

Regulatory asset 6 4,948              -                       
Property, plant and equipment 4 182,182          150,796             

203,564$      156,557$          

Liabilities and Capital Account
Current liabilities
Accounts and other payables 10,356$          5,290$               
Taxes payable -                      14,108               
Due to related parties 3 1,086              917                   

11,442            20,315               

Future income taxes 23,236            23,338               
First mortgage bonds 5 115,750          68,750               

150,428          112,403             

Capital account 53,136            44,154               
203,564$      156,557$          

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
-                    
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GREAT LAKES POWER LIMITED TRANSMISSION DIVISION 
STATEMENT OF CAPITAL ACCOUNT
Years ended December 31

thousands of CDN dollars  2005 2004

Balance, beginning of year 44,154$          41,266$            
Net income 8,982              2,888               
Balance, end of year 53,136$         44,154$           

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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GREAT LAKES POWER LIMITED TRANSMISSION DIVISION 
STATEMENT OF INCOME
Years ended December 31

thousands of CDN dollars Notes   2005 2004

Revenues 28,909$              24,574$                 

Expenses
Operating and administrative 4,558                  4,045                    
Maintenance 968                      1,863                    
Interest 8 2,565                  3,949                    
Depreciation 4,425                  3,957                    
Taxes, other than income taxes 519                      419                       

13,035              14,233                 

Net operating income 15,874                10,341                  

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 6 (1,671)                 (5,745)                   
Other income 90                        28                        

Net income before income taxes 14,293                4,624                    

Income taxes - current 9 5,413                  4,154                    

Income taxes - future 9 (102)                    (2,418)                   

Net income 8,982$                2,888$                  

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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GREAT LAKES POWER LIMITED TRANSMISSION DIVISION 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended December 31

thousands of CDN dollars Notes   2005 2004

Operating activities
Net income 8,982$         2,888$             
Items not affecting cash

Depreciation 4,425           3,957              
Future income taxes (102)            (2,418)             
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 1,671           5,745              

Net change in non-cash working capital 7 7,576           17,715             
22,552         27,887             

Investing activities
Due from related parties (6,405)         (100)                
Proceeds on disposition of property, plant and equipment -                   76                   
Additions to property, plant and equipment (44,079)       (35,560)           

(50,484)       (35,584)           

Financing Activities
Due to related parties 27,000         10,500             

27,000         10,500             

(Decrease) increase in cash (932)            2,803              
Cash, beginning of year 2,892           89                   
Cash, end of year 1,960$         2,892$             

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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GREAT LAKES POWER LIMITED TRANSMISSION DIVISION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2005  
(in thousands of CDN dollars)  
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1. NATURE AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 
  
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles on the basis that the Transmission Division (the “Division”) of Great Lakes Power 
Limited (“GLPL”) operates as a separate legal entity.  The Division is engaged in the transmission of 
electricity to the area adjacent to Sault Ste. Marie, Canada and is subject to the regulations of the Ontario 
Energy Board (the “OEB”). These divisional financial statements do not include all of the assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses of GLPL.  Consolidated financial statements of GLPL have been prepared for 
issuance to the shareholder and have been reported on by its auditors.   

 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The following accounting policies have been applied in the preparation of these financial statements: 

                  
(a)     Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, including costs of acquisition incurred by 
the Division and its parent, less accumulated depreciation. The cost of the property, plant 
and equipment is depreciated over the estimated service lives of the assets as follows:  

 
 Method Rate 
Buildings Straight-line 40 years 
Transmission stations, towers and related fixtures Straight-line 25 to 40 years 
Equipment Straight-line 5 to 40 years

        
Construction work in progress is not depreciated until the assets are put into service.  

 
  (b) Impairment of long-lived assets 
 

The Division reviews long-lived assets for other than temporary impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The 
determination of whether impairment has occurred is based on an estimate of undiscounted 
cash flows attributable to the assets, as compared to the carrying value of the assets. Should 
an asset be considered to be impaired, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal 
to the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value. 

 
  (c) Capitalization of interest 
   
  Interest on funds used in construction is charged to construction work in progress at the 

prescribed rate of return applicable to the rate base. 
 
 (d) Revenue recognition 

  The Division recognizes revenue on an accrual basis when electricity is wheeled at the 
established regulated rate by the OEB. 
 

 (e) Income taxes 

The Division uses the asset and liability method in accounting for income taxes. Under this 
method, future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between 
the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities, and are measured using the 
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GREAT LAKES POWER LIMITED TRANSMISSION DIVISION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2005  
(in thousands of CDN dollars)  
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enacted, or substantively enacted, tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the 
differences are expected to reverse, taking into account the organization of the Division’s 
financial affairs and its impact on taxable income and tax losses. 
 

 (f) Use of estimates 

   The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amount of assets and liabilities, and disclosures of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. During the years presented, management has made a 
number of estimates and valuation assumptions including accruals, depreciation and those 
relevant to the defined benefit pension plan. Estimates are based on historical experience, 
current trends and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

(g) Rate Regulation 

On January 1, 2005, the Division adopted CICA Handbook Accounting Guideline 19, 
Disclosure by Entities Subject to Rate Regulation. The Division is regulated by the OEB. 
Accounting standards recognize that rate regulation can create economic benefits and 
obligations, which are reported in the financial statements as regulatory assets and liabilities. 
When the regulation provides assurance that incurred costs will be recovered in the future, 
the Division may defer these costs and report them as a regulatory asset. If current recovery 
is provided for costs expected to be incurred in the future, the Division reports a regulatory 
liability. Also, if the regulation provides for lesser or greater planned revenue to be received 
or returned by the Division through future rates, the Division recognizes and reports a 
regulatory asset or liability, respectively. The measurement of such regulatory assets and 
liabilities are subject to certain estimates and assumptions, including assumptions made in 
the interpretation of the regulation.  

 
 
3.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

(a) The Division has provided advances to and received advances from entities under common 
control in the normal course of operations. The Division has also provided advances to and 
received advances from other divisions of GLPL. These advances are non-interest bearing, 
unsecured and due on demand.  

 
(b) In the normal course of operations, Riskcorp Inc., an insurance broker related through 

common control, entered into transactions with GLPL to provide insurance. These 
transactions have been measured at exchange value.   The total cost allocated to the Division 
in 2005 for these services was $124 (2004 – $138) and no amount remains outstanding at 
year end (2004 - $nil). 

 
 

(c)  As a result, the following balances are receivable (payable) at December 31: 
            

 2005 2004
Due from related parties  
Advances to other divisions of GLPL $     6,505 $       100 
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GREAT LAKES POWER LIMITED TRANSMISSION DIVISION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2005  
(in thousands of CDN dollars)  
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Due to related parties   
Advances from other divisions of GLPL $      (1,081) $     (917) 
Advances from entities under common control (5) - 
 $      (1,086) $    (917) 

 
4.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 2005 2004 
Accumulated Net Book Net Book 

Cost Depreciation Value Value
Land $        544 $           - $        544 $        544 
Buildings 15,466 4,148 11,318 11,496 
Transmission stations, towers and 
related fixtures 189,919 42,570 147,349 103,699 
Equipment 3,164 2,814 350 451 
Construction work in progress 22,621 - 22,621 34,606 
  $  231,714 $  49,532 $ 182,182 $  150,796  

 
Cost and accumulated depreciation as at December 31, 2004 were $197,824 and $47,028, 
respectively. 

 
Property, plant and equipment were comprehensively revalued to fair value in 1996. At December 
31, 2005, the fair value adjustment and the related accumulated depreciation were $78,941 and 
$17,915, respectively (2004 - $82,005 and $16,401, respectively).  

 
 5.     FIRST MORTGAGE BONDS 
 

 2005 2004 
Series 1 First Mortgage Bonds $   384,000  $   384,000
Subordinated First Mortgage Bonds  115,000 115,000

$   499,000  $   499,000
 

The Series 1 First Mortgage Bonds (“Series 1 Bonds”) bear interest at the rate of 6.60%. Semi-
annual payments of interest only are due and payable on June and December 16 each year until 
and including June 16, 2013.  Equal blended semi-annual payments of principal and interest on the 
Series 1 Bonds will commence on December 16, 2013 and will continue until and including June 16, 
2023. The Series 1 Bonds will not be fully amortized by their maturity date. The remaining principal 
balance of the Series 1 Bonds will be fully paid on June 16, 2023. 
 
The Subordinated First Mortgage Bonds bear interest at the rate of 7.80% and are due on June 16, 
2023. 
 
The Series 1 First Mortgage Bonds and the Subordinated First Mortgage Bonds are both secured by 
a charge on generation and transmission present and future real property assets of GLPL.  The fair 
market value of the First Mortgage Bonds is $526,713 (2004 - $499,237) based on current market 
prices for debt with similar terms. 

 
A total of $115,750 of the Series 1 Bonds (2004 - $68,750) has been allocated to the Division. 
Interest on the allocated Bonds is expensed in accordance with the interest rate prescribed by 
regulation. In 2005, the interest rate was 6.6% (2004 – 7.0%).  
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GREAT LAKES POWER LIMITED TRANSMISSION DIVISION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2005  
(in thousands of CDN dollars)  
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6.     EFFECT OF RATE REGULATION 
 

The Division recorded the following regulatory asset as at December 31, 2005: 
  

 2005 2004
Regulatory assets   
Deferred loss on disposal of transmission assets  $       6,597     $            -
Less: current portion (1,649) -
Long-term portion     $       4,948 $            -

 
The Division operates in accordance with the regulations of the OEB.  Regulatory assets and 
liabilities represent certain revenues or costs incurred in the current period or in prior periods that 
have been or are expected to be recovered from customers upon approval from the OEB. In the 
absence of rate regulation, these balances would have been recorded as revenues or expenses in 
the statement of income. 
 

 Deferred loss on disposal of transmission assets 
 
As prescribed by regulatory order, gains or losses on disposal of assets are recorded as a 
regulatory asset or liability subject to approval by the OEB. For the year ended December 31, 2005, 
the Division incurred a loss on disposal of assets totalling $8,246 which will be recovered over a 
period of five years, commencing April 1, 2005. During 2005, the Division recovered $1,649 of the 
deferred loss, resulting in a balance of $6,597 recorded in the regulatory asset account as at 
December 31, 2005. As the deferred loss on disposal of transmission assets has been approved by 
the OEB for recovery, there is no risk of non-collection of this balance.  

 
7. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
  2005 2004 
 Accounts receivable $     (3,310) $     (116)
 Prepaid expenses and other 375 (286)
 Due to related parties 169 11,206
 Taxes receivable / payable 5,276 4,079
 Accounts and other payables  5,066 2,832 
   $       7,576  $    17,715
 

Non-cash activities for the year ended December 31 include: 
 
 2005 2004
Regulatory asset recorded as a result of loss on disposal 
of transmission assets (note 7) $      8,246 $      -
Due to related parties settled through the allocation of 
First Mortgage Bonds                     $   27,000 $      -
Taxes payable settled through the allocation of First 
Mortgage Bonds 

                    
                    $    20,000 $      - 
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GREAT LAKES POWER LIMITED TRANSMISSION DIVISION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2005  
(in thousands of CDN dollars)  
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8. INTEREST AND FINANCING FEES 
 
 The net interest and financing fees recorded in the financial statements as at December 31 are 

comprised as follows:   
 

 2005 2004
Interest expense incurred $   4,687   $  4,813  
Capitalized interest (2,122) (864)
 $   2,565   $  3,949  

 
9.     INCOME TAXES 
   

The provision for income taxes in the statements of income represents an effective tax rate 
different than the Canadian statutory rate of 36% (2005 – 36%).  The differences are as follows: 

   

 2005 2004
  
Net income before income taxes $ 14,293 $  4,624
Computed income tax expense at Canadian statutory rate 5,144 1,665
Increase resulting from:   
    Large corporation tax 205 38 
    Other (38) 33 
Income tax  provision $   5,311 $  1,736
   
Future income tax liabilities    
CCA in excess of book depreciation $ 23,163 $ 23,383 
Other 73  (45) 
 $   23,236 $  23,338 

 
The Division’s future income tax liability of $23,236 (2004 – $23,338) is comprised principally of 
temporary differences relating to the CCA in excess of book depreciation. At December 31, 2005, 
the Division did not have any unused capital losses (2004 – $nil).  

 
10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

(a) Interest rate risk 
 
The Division’s long-term debt bears interest at a rate set periodically by the OEB. Consequently, 
there is cash flow exposure.  

 
(b) Fair value 

 
 The carrying amounts in the balance sheet of accounts receivable and accounts and other payables 

approximate their fair values, reflecting their short maturities. 
 
 The fair value of the related party balances is not determinable by management due to the related 

party nature of these balances. 
  
 (c) Credit risk 
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GREAT LAKES POWER LIMITED TRANSMISSION DIVISION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2005  
(in thousands of CDN dollars)  
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Credit risk arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its contractual obligations and 
is limited to those contracts where the Division would incur a loss in replacing the defaulted 
transaction.  The Division’s financial instruments that are potentially exposed to credit risks are 
accounts receivable.  The Division actively manages its exposure to credit risk by assessing the 
ability of counterparties to fulfill their obligations under the related contracts prior to entering into 
such contracts, and continually monitors these exposures.  

 
11. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND GUARANTEES 
 
 In the normal course of operations, the Division executes agreements that provide for 

indemnification and guarantees to third parties in transactions such as debt issuances.  The nature 
of substantially all of the indemnification undertakings prevents the Division from making a 
reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount the Division could be required to pay third 
parties as the agreements do not specify a maximum amount and the amounts are dependent 
upon the outcome of future contingent events, the nature and likelihood of which cannot be 
determined at this time.  Historically, the Division has not made significant payments under such 
indemnification agreements. 

 
On behalf of GLPL, Brookfield Power Corporation obtained a letter of credit totaling $19,008 to 
cover nine months of interest payments on the Series 1 First Mortgage Bonds.  No amount has 
been drawn against this letter of credit.  

 
In the normal course of operations, the Division has committed as at December 31, 2005 to spend 
approximately $12,700 (2004 - $32,570) on capital projects in future years. 

 
The Division may, from time to time, be involved in legal proceedings, claims, and litigation that 
arise in the ordinary course of business which the Division believes would not reasonably be 
expected to have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Division. 
 
The Division has asset retirement obligations associated with its transmission lines.  The retirement 
date for these lines cannot be reasonably estimated and therefore the fair value of the associated 
liability cannot be determined at this time.  As a result, no liability has been accrued in these 
financial statements.   
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